In the Supreme Court

of the State of California

People of the State of California,)	No. S192704
Plaintiff and respondent,)	SUPPREME COURT
v.))	OCT 13 2011
Mildred Delgado,)	Frequency, is Unition Clark
Defendant and appellant.)	Deputy

Appellant's Opening Brief on the Merits

Appeal from the Judgment of the Superior Court County of Los Angeles The Honorable Ronald Rose, Judge Nos. BA337662, BA348502

> Robert Derham Attorney at Law State Bar No. 99600 769 Center Blvd. #175 Fairfax, CA 94930 Tel: 415-485-2945

Attorney for defendant and appellant Mildred Delgado

By appointment of the California Supreme Court

In the Supreme Court

of the State of California

People of the)	No. S192704

Questions Presented

- (1) Did the trial court have a duty to instruct sua sponte on an aiding and abetting theory of liability where defendant personally performed some elements of the charged offense and another person performed the remaining elements to be required to complete the crime?
- (2) If so, did the Court of Appeal correctly conclude that the trial court's failure to instruct on aiding and abetting was harmless error?

Statement of the Case

A jury convicted Mildred Delgado of kidnapping to commit robbery (Pen. Code, § 209, subd. (b)(1) [count 1]) and robbery (Pen. Code, § 211 [count 2]), and found he used a knife and inflicted great bodily injury in the commission of the crimes. (Pen. Code, §§ 12022, subd. (b)(2)) & 12022.7, subd. (a), respectively; see CT 130-131 [verdicts]& CT 89-9 [information].) The convictions arose out of an incident that occurred on March 2, 2008, involving Melvin Perez. (CT 89-90.) Mr. Delgado was convicted in the same trial of other offenses that occurred on a different occasion. These other convictions are not relevant to the questions on review.

The court sentenced Mr. Delgado to life in prison for kidnapping to commit robbery, with an additional four years for the enhancements. The punishment for robbery was stayed under Penal Code section 654. (3 RT 1505-1507; CT 151-154.)

Mr. Delgado appealed. (CT 150.) In a published decision, the Court of Appeal ruled, with respect to the kidnapping conviction, that the trial court erred by failing to instruct sua sponte on aiding and abetting. (Slip Opinion at p. 8.) However,

the Court found the error harmless and affirmed the convictions and sentence. (*Id.* at p. 10.)

This Court granted review on June 29, 2011.

Statement of the Facts

The Testimony of Melvin Perez

On a Saturday night, after drinking six beers at home,
Melvin Perez left his home to go to a bar. (2 RT 626, 662.) It was
about 8:00 p.m. (2 RT 626.) Perez briefly stopped at a bar, Salsa
LA, then left to go to a second bar, El Charro. He noticed Mildred
Delgado walking behind him as he headed to El Charro; they
spoke to each other briefly and then parted. (2 RT 630.)

Moments later, Delgado entered El Charro. (2 RT 630.)

Perez invited Delgado to join him and bought Delgado a beer. (2

RT 630.) Delgado asked Perez to accompany him to a friend's house where they could do drugs. Perez declined; Delgado left. (2

RT 631.)

Perez stayed at the bar. Shortly after Delgado left, a woman told Perez she noticed Delgado had been staring at Perez's jewelry. (2 RT 633.) The woman called Perez's cousin, who came to the bar and took Perez's jewelry and watch from him. (2 RT

Perez stayed at El Charro until closing. He finished eight more beers. (2 RT 664, 632.) He was drunk, and he confessed at trial that his memory of what happened that night was incomplete. (2 RT 635, 660, 670.)

When Perez left the bar he saw Delgado outside, standing next to a "big car" driven by a woman whom Perez did not know. (2 RT 635-637.) Perez could not remember what kind of car it was. (2 RT 670.)

Delgado invited Perez to go drinking and offered him a ride.

Perez agreed and got into the car. (2 RT 637.) The woman spoke
a few words but Perez did not remember what she said. (2 RT
636.) The woman and Delgado sat in the front; Perez got into the
back seat. (2 RT 638.)

The car traveled for a short time and then stopped. (2 RT 643.) Delgado got into the back seat, but whether he climbed into the backseat directly or got out of the car and entered through the back door is unclear. (2 RT 643, 668). Perez asked what was going on; Delgado told him to "shut up." (2 RT 645.) Perez then tried to get out, but the door was locked. (2 RT 645.) Perez testified, "I

tried to get out, and the one who was driving, she blocked [sic] it from the front to the back. She blocked [sic] the doors." (2 RT 643.) Perez added that he "tried to open the door, but the door was already locked." (2 RT 645.)

Delgado reached into Perez's pockets and asked for Perez's jewelry; Perez said it had been stolen. (2 RT 644.) Delgado drew a knife. (2 RT 645.) The two struggled. (2 RT 645.) The car started moving again and traveled a few blocks before Delgado stabbed Perez and he lost consciousness. (2 RT 647.) Later, Perez realized Delgado had taken his wallet and money. (2 RT 648.)

Perez did not recall getting out of the car; he thought he was pushed. (2 RT 650.) Perez believed he blacked out and regained consciousness near his apartment, which was about a half mile from the bar. (2 RT 649.)

The Testimony of Mildred Delgado

Delgado testified that he lived two blocks from Salsa LA. (2 RT 932.) On the night of the incident, Delgado saw Perez outside El Charro; Delgado had seen Perez before in the neighborhood. (2 RT 933.) Perez offered to buy Delgado a beer. (2 RT 933.)

After drinking a beer, Delgado told Perez he was tired and

wanted to go home. (2 RT 934.) They agreed to meet again later that night. (2 RT 934.) Delgado returned around 1:30 a.m. and saw Perez inside. (2 RT 934.) Perez followed Delgado out of the bar. Outside, Delgado saw Myra, a woman he had met a few times. He believed she ran an informal taxi service. (2 RT 944.) She was there when Delgado got outside, but they did not come to the bar together.(2 RT 942.)

Perez got into Myra's car voluntarily. (2 RT 935.) When Delgado got inside, he saw Perez was still drinking a beer; he told him to keep it down. Perez told Delgado he was "a big scaredy-cat, that [he] was gay." (2 RT 936.) Delgado jumped in the back to calm Perez down, and Perez hit him with the beer bottle. Delgado took out the knife, and Perez hit himself against it in the struggle. (2 RT 938.) Delgado denied robbing Perez.

Mildred Delgado's Pre-trial Statements

Delgado gave a statement to the police 10 days after the incident. (2 RT 907.) According to the detective who took the statement, Delgado gave four different versions of the incident. (2 RT 912.) In his first account, Delgado stated that he was with Perez at the bar but left to get food; he suggested that perhaps his

friends had done something to Perez. By his fourth account,

Delgado's account was similar to Perez's. (2 RT 912.) Delgado
said his plan was to rob Perez, but he stabbed Perez because

Perez punched him in the face. (2 RT 913.) The detective who
testified to these pretrial statements did not say whether Delgado
mentioned the driver or her role, if any, in the incident.

The Police Found the Car Used in the Incident

The police later located the car. (2 RT 915.) A calendar found inside had "Myra and Mildred" written on it. (2 RT 916.)

The car, an Isuzu Trooper, was registered to Myra Gonzales, whose address was a few blocks from the bar. (2 RT 919-920.) A blood stain in the car was swabbed and found to belong to Melvin Perez. (2 RT 925.)

Argument

I. The Trial Court Has A Sua Sponte Duty To Instruct On Aiding And Abetting Or Conspiracy Where A Defendant Commits Some But Not All Of The Elements Of A Crime, And Another Person Commits The Remaining Elements.

Due process requires that each element of a crime be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. When two people join together to commit a crime, and one person commits some elements of the

crime and the other person commits the rest, the trial court has a sua sponte duty to instruct on accomplice liability to ensure that each element has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

Without aiding and abetting or conspiracy instructions, a defendant cannot be found criminally responsible for the acts of another person.

This rule is well established. The only decision to reach a contrary conclusion, *People v. Cook* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1364, is an outlier that has never been followed and whose conclusion was rejected by a federal court. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal below correctly ruled that the trial court had a sua sponte duty to instruct on aiding and abetting and erred in failing to do so.

A. Failing to instruct on aiding and abetting when a defendant commits only some of the elements of a crime, and another person commits the missing element, violates due process and the right to a jury trial.

The Constitution requires that all elements of a crime be proven to a jury beyond a reasonable doubt. (U.S. Const., 5th, 6th & 14th Amends; *In re Winship* (1970) 397 U.S. 358, 364 [holding that every fact necessary to constitute the crime must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt]; *United States v. Gaudin* (1995) 515

U.S. 506, 509-510 [holding a defendant in a criminal case has a right to a jury trial on every element of the crime].) The California Constitution requires the same. (*People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 479-80 (holding that instructional error that relieves the prosecution of the burden of proving each element of the offense beyond a reasonable doubt "violates the defendant's rights under both the United States and California Constitutions").)

To safeguard these rights, the trial court must instruct the jury on the elements of the crime. Without instructions, a jury would not know which facts constitute the crime and the record would not show that the jury found each required fact beyond a reasonable doubt. (*People v. Magee* (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 188, 193.) Accordingly, the trial court has a sua sponte duty to instruct on all of the elements of the offense. (*People v. Cummings* (1993) 4 Cal.4th 1233, 1311.)

In this case, defendant was charged with kidnapping for robbery and the jury was instructed on simple kidnapping as a lesser-included offense. (CT 121.) Both crimes require the prosecution to prove the defendant, by force or fear, "moved" the

victim a substantial distance. (§ 207, subd. (a); *People v. Rayford* (1994) 9 Cal.4th 1, 12-14.)

The Court of Appeal found that defendant did not move Perez. (Slip Opinion at p. 8.) The victim, Melvin Perez, testified he entered the car voluntarily, and after a short time, was assaulted and robbed by defendant while the woman (who did not testify) drove the car a few blocks. The Court of Appeal found "the record does not reflect that [defendant] personally moved or caused Perez to move a substantial distance." (Slip Opinion at p. 8.)

Because Delgado did not move the victim, he did not commit one of the elements of kidnapping. He could be convicted of kidnapping only if the actions of the driver, who did move the victim, could be attributed to Delgado. But the jury was not instructed on aiding and abetting, or conspiracy, and thus the jury was not required to find that the driver assisted the crime of kidnapping by driving the car a substantial distance. The Court of Appeal correctly ruled the failure to instruct sua sponte on aiding and abetting was error under the state and federal constitutions. (Slip Opinion at pp. 8-9.)

B. California courts have long held that accomplice liability instructions are required when a defendant commits only some of the elements that constitute the crime.

It is common for two people to join together to commit a crime. One person may commit part of the crime, and the accomplice may take other acts that complete the crime. In such a case, each person is both a perpetrator and an aider and abettor. "When two or more persons commit a crime together, both may act in part as the actual perpetrator and in part as the aider and abettor of the other, who also acts in part as an actual perpetrator." (*People v. McCoy* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1111, 1120.) Courts have long recognized that accomplice instructions are appropriate when two or more people commit a crime together. (See. e.g., People v. Kaufman (1907) 152 Cal. 331, 334 (holding that when parties combine to commit a crime, "each is criminally responsible for the acts of his associates or confederates" committed in furtherance of the crime); People v. Washington (1969) 71 Cal.2d 1170, 1174 (holding trial court must instruct sua sponte on uncharged conspiracy where prosecution is relying on it to prove defendant's liability as an aider and abettor).

A good example of the rule is found in *People v. Williams* (2008) 161 Cal. App. 4th 705. There, two people joined together to sell cocaine. The defendant Williams took the buyer's money and another person, who was not charged, delivered the cocaine to the buyer. (161 Cal.App.4th at pp. 708-09.) The prosecutor requested aiding and abetting instructions, then conspiracy instructions, because "there isn't one person who committed the crime." (Id. at p. 709.) The Court of Appeal agreed the instructions were necessary and proper: "Where the prosecutor did not charge conspiracy as an offense, but introduced evidence of a conspiracy to prove liability, the court had a sua sponte duty to give uncharged conspiracy instructions." (Id.) As Williams noted, this rule is longstanding, and a standard jury instruction has been formulated to address the situation. (Id. at p. 709, citing People v. Pike (1962) 58 Cal.2d 70, 88 & CALCRIM No. 416.)

The facts here are analogous to *Williams*. Under one view of the evidence, one person (defendant) detained the victim against his will with the intent to rob him while the other person (the driver) moved the victim a substantial distance in furtherance of the crime. As in *Williams*, one person could not

have committed the crime; it took two acting together to complete the crime of kidnapping. And, as in *Williams*, instructions on aiding and abetting or conspiracy were required to ensure that each element of the crime was proven beyond a reasonable doubt.

C. *People v. Cook* was wrongly decided, has never been followed, and was rightfully rejected by a federal court.

As demonstrated by *People v. Williams, supra,* accomplice instructions are required when a defendant commits some but not all of the elements of the charged crime, and the defendant's liability for the completed crime rests upon the actions of another person. The only case to depart from this principle has been *People v. Cook* (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 1364, a decision that has never been followed and was rejected by a federal court in the habeas corpus action that followed the appeal.

In *Cook*, the defendant confronted the victim with a knife. The victim dropped his bag of beer, and defendant's friend picked up the beer and walked away while defendant stabbed the victim. (*Cook, supra,* 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 1366.) On appeal, defendant argued the friend took the property from the victim, and aiding and abetting instructions were required to find defendant guilty

of robbery. (*Id.* at p. 1368.)

The Court of Appeal rejected the argument. It held "if the defendant performed an element of the offense, the jury need not be instructed on aiding and abetting, even if an accomplice performed other acts that completed this crime." (*Cook, supra,* 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 1371.)

No case has followed this ruling. And, in the habeas corpus action that followed the decision, a federal court found the Court of Appeal's holding "clearly unconstitutional." (*Cook v. Lamarque* (E.D. Cal. 2002) 237 F.Supp.2d 985, 996.) The federal court held:

Due process requires that all elements of the offense be proven against the defendant. However, the *Cook* rule allows the prosecution to prove an offense by establishing only one element as to a particular defendant, effectively removing the necessity of proving all required elements and thereby lessening the burden of proof. Pursuant to the *Cook* rule, if a crime is completed, then the prosecution need only prove that a defendant committed one element in order for the defendant to be found guilty of the entire crime, so long as another actor committed the remaining elements.

(Cook, supra, 239 F.Supp. at p. 996.)

In sum, the Court of Appeal below correctly ruled that aiding and abetting instructions must be given sua sponte

whenever a defendant commits some parts of the crime, and his liability for the offense depends on the completion of the crime by another person. Given that this procedure is already universally followed, the rule adds no burden to the trial court judge or to the government. But a contrary rule, one that allows a conviction based on the commission of a single element of the crime, would raise serious constitutional issues and lead to injustice.

II. The Court Of Appeal Erred In Holding The Failure To Instruct On Aiding And Abetting Was Harmless Error.

Although the Court of Appeal was correct that error occurred, its finding that the error was harmless is incorrect.

Under established precedent of this Court and the United States Supreme Court, the failure to instruct on an element of the crime cannot be harmless error where at trial the defendant contested the omitted element and produced evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding. (Neder v. United States (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 19; People v. Flood, supra, 18 Cal.4th 470, 507.) The Court of Appeal either did not apply this rule at all or misapplied it, because the court took no notice of the record evidence that shows defense counsel contested the asportation element and produced evidence

from which the jury could infer that the driver was not an accomplice to the crime.

The error was not harmless and the kidnapping-for-robbery conviction must be reversed.

A. The error violates the federal constitution and therefore the State must show the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The failure to instruct upon an element of the offense is federal constitutional error. (*People v. Flood, supra*, 18 Cal.4th 470, 491.) It is subject to harmless error analysis under *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18. (*Flood, supra*, 18 Cal.4th at p. 503; *Neder v. United States, supra*, 527 U.S. at pp. 8-9.) Under *Chapman*, "the beneficiary of a constitutional error" must "prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (*Chapman, supra*, 386 U.S. at p.24.)

Here, the failure to instruct on aiding and abetting lessened the State's burden of proof, making it the beneficiary of the error. As such, the State must now prove the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The record permits no such a finding.

B. The failure to instruct on an element of the crime is not harmless where, as here, the defendant contested the omitted element and presented evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding.

A trial court's failure to instruct on an element of the offense requires reversal where the defendant "contested the omitted element and raised evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding." (Neder v. United States, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 19.) In Neder, defendant was charged with filing a false income tax return by failing to report over \$5 million in income. To prove its case, the government was required to prove defendant filed an income tax return which he did not believe to be true and correct as to every "material" element. The trial court failed to instruct the jury on the materiality element. (Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 16.)

The Supreme Court first found that failure to instruct on an element was not a structural defect requiring automatic reversal but could be reviewed for harmless error under *Chapman.* (*Neder, supra,* 527 U.S. at p. 15.) The Court then found the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because the materiality of \$5 million of income was both obvious and

uncontested. The Court noted defendant "did not, and apparently could not, bring forth facts contesting the omitted element," but instead argued that unreported loan proceeds were not income and he reasonably relied on the advice of counsel in not reporting it. (Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at pp. 16-17, 19.) Significantly, however, the Court acknowledged that to safeguard the jury trial guarantee reviewing courts "should not" find the failure to instruct on an element to be harmless in cases "where the defendant contested the omitted element and raised evidence sufficient to support a contrary finding." (Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 19.)

Both this Court and the court of appeal have followed the Neder rule. In People v. French (2008) 43 Cal.4th 36, the Court held the failure to submit a sentencing factor to a jury may be found harmless "if the evidence supporting that factor is overwhelming and uncontested, and there is no 'evidence that could rationally lead to a contrary finding." (French, supra, 43 Cal.4th at p. 53, quoting United States v. Neder, supra, 527 U.S. at p. 19; see also People v. Epps (2001) 25 Cal.4th 19, 29 [holding that error in failure to observe statutory right to a jury trial on a

prior conviction allegation was harmless where defendant did not contest the prior conviction]; *People v. Jackson* (2003) 109

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