# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

## THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Case No. S192704

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

MILDRED DELGADO,

Defendant and Appellant.

Second Appellate District, Case No. B220174 SUPREME COURT Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA33766 LED

The Honorable Ronald Rose, Judge

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

FEB **1 5** 2012

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

pleading and punishment distinctions among first degree principals, those of the second degree, and accessories, the former common law categories "make explicit" that one who engages in conduct that is an element of the charged crime is a perpetrator, not an aider and abettor, of the completed crime. (*Id.* at p. 1371.)

It is true that in *Cook v. Lamarque* (E.D. Cal. 2002) 239 F.Supp.2d 985, 996 (*Cook II*), a federal magistrate subsequently concluded that due process required aiding and abetting instructions in Cook's case because Cook had not personally committed all of the elements of the offense. The Court of Appeal below found *Cook II* better reasoned than *Cook I*. Respondent disagrees.

The federal magistrate judge who authored *Cook II*, like the Court of Appeal in the instant case, did not discuss *McCoy*.<sup>4</sup> The magistrate judge instead reasoned as follows:

Petitioner correctly argues that the rule expressed in *Cook* [I] is unconstitutional. Due process requires that all elements of the offense be proven against the defendant. However, the *Cook* [I] rule allows the prosecution to prove an offense by establishing only one element as to a particular defendant, effectively removing the necessity of proving all required elements and thereby lessening the burden of proof. Pursuant to the *Cook*[I] rule, if a crime is completed, then the prosecution need only prove that a defendant committed one element in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> In his opening brief in this Court, appellant briefly cites *McCoy* but does not discuss it. Appellant instead relies on *People v. Williams* (2008) 161 Cal.App.4th 705, as support for his claim that aiding and abetting instructions were required. But the issue in *Williams* was whether conspiracy instructions were required in a case in which the prosecution introduced evidence of a conspiracy and requested the instructions. Under those circumstances, the Court of Appeal held that conspiracy instructions were required. *Williams* is inapposite because, as argued at trial here, appellant was a direct participant in the crimes. The prosecution did not rely on an aiding and abetting theory or a conspiracy theory.

order for the defendant to be found guilty of the entire crime, so long as another actor committed the remaining elements.

(Cook II, supra, 239 F.Supp.2d at p. 996.)

But the magistrate judge who authored *Cook II* misstated the rule in *Cook I* and, moreover, did not explain why Cook had not personally committed a robbery. Regardless, the *Cook II* magistrate's observations about the burden of proof are unquestionably inapplicable to *this* case, since appellant was tried as a direct perpetrator and the jury here was twice instructed that a conviction of kidnapping required proof beyond a reasonable doubt that "*the defendant* moved the other person or made the other person move a substantial distance." (CT 119, 121; emphasis added.) Therefore, contrary to the magistrate judge's observation in *Cook II*, this jury could *not* have convicted appellant without finding that he personally committed each element of the offense.

Instead of explaining how Cook was harmed by the alleged instructional error, the magistrate judge faulted the Fifth Appellate District's rationale in *Cook I* solely by reference to the following hypothetical, to illustrate that the state court's allegedly erroneous "formulation" could allow an improper conviction:

The constitutional deficiencies of . . . [the *Cook I*] rule can be demonstrated by a simple hypothetical example. Consider two individuals who decide to frighten another individual. As part of the plan, one actor is to utilize a toy gun in a confrontation with the victim. Now, let us suppose the other actor decides he in fact wants to kill the victim, and he replaces the toy gun, unbeknownst to the first actor, with a real gun. When the first actor, thinking he is using a toy gun, pulls the trigger and kills the victim, is he guilty of murder? Under the Cook[I] rule, the answer is in the affirmative. Pursuant to Penal Code section 187, murder is defined as "the unlawful killing of a human being, or a fetus, with malice aforethought." Applying the Cook[I] rule, the first actor is guilty of murder even though he did not bear malice aforethought, because the crime was completed, he committed an unlawful killing, and the element of

malice was completed by the other actor. This result is clearly unconstitutional, but it is entirely possible under the new rule announced in *Cook [I]*.

(Cook II, supra, 239 F.Supp. at p. 996.)

But the magistrate judge's hypothetical misapprends *Cook I*, which requires not only that the jury find that the defendant personally perform one of the elements, but that the defendant also have the requisite mens rea. (*Cook I, supra*, 61 Cal.App.4th at p. 1371.) The defendant in the mistakengun hypothetical of *Cook II* therefore would not be a perpetrator under the rule of *Cook I*. If, as in Cook's case, a defendant commits an act that is an element of the crime and does so with the intent required for the crime, and the crime is completed whether by the defendant alone or in combination with an active co-defendant, that defendant is an active perpetrator. *Cook I* recognizes that a participant who acts with intent and actively commits part of a completed crime is liable as a direct participant, rather than merely under an aider and abettor theory. *Cook I* is therefore consistent with this Court's observations in *McCoy*.

Both Cook's and appellant's case involve direct participants, not an involuntary accomplice as in the *Cook II* hypothetical. The criminal actor who stands guard outside a bank during a bank robbery is an aider and abettor only. But here, where co-perpetrators operate together to commit every element of a kidnapping for robbery, they can be, but are not necessarily only, aiders and abettors. They are direct perpetrators.

The magistrate judge in *Cook II* did not address this significant distinction, in which the defendant is actively involved in all aspects of the crime. And the magistrate judge's hypothetical clearly would not apply to the instant case, as demonstrated above.

The following hypothetical would be more instructive here:

Consider two individuals who plan to kidnap and rob another individual.

They plan to do so by luring their victim into a waiting car and speeding away, so that the robbery of the trapped victim can commence inside the moving car. But both perpetrators cannot drive the car simultaneously. One will usher the victim into the car. The other will drive – and lock the doors. As the driver proceeds, her crime partner robs and stabs the victim. The plan is a joint plan, shared by both perpetrators. There is no evidence, and no claim at trial, that one criminal actor secretly planned and carried out a separate crime, unbeknownst to his confederate.

This scenario, unlike the *Cook II* magistrate's hypothetical, accounts for the shared intent and actions present in this case. In this hypothetical, consistent with the evidence in appellant's trial, the element of asportation necessary for a kidnapping is present in the conduct of both perpetrators. The driver has transported the victim by driving, and the stabber has transported the victim by placing him in the waiting car. The driver would have had no victim to asport but for appellant's initial asportation in physically ushering the victim into the car. Because appellant's own conduct was a necessary and active component of the victim's asportation, aiding and abetting instructions were not required to supply a missing element. As respondent observed in the Court of Appeal (with reference to a different hypothetical), a perpetrator who places a victim on an airplane is guilty of kidnapping without resort to instructing the jury at trial the perpetrator that it must also decide whether the pilot of the airplane was an aider and abettor.

The sole rationale provided by the federal magistrate in *Cook II* as a basis to grant habeas corpus relief was the example of a hypothetical, involving an unwitting accomplice, that has no application to the present case. In this case, appellant actively participated in the asportation of the victim and committed all the requisite elements of the crime of kidnapping for robbery. When the facts and circumstances of this case are properly

considered, along with this Court's observations in *McCoy*, it is evident the trial court here did not have a duty to instruct on aiding and abetting.

In conclusion, this case does not require the Court to decide the question of whether aiding and abetting instructions are required when a defendant performed some but not all elements of the charged offense, because here appellant personally performed all elements of the charged offense. If, however, this Court determines that the question is presented by the facts of this case, the conclusion remains that aiding and abetting instructions would not be required. As *McCoy* recognizes, there are factual situations in which multiple participants are involved in the actual and active perpetration of the crime. As *Cook I* further illustrates, each of those perpetrators is a direct participant even though one of them performs the final element that completes the crime. Under these factual circumstances, aiding and abetting instructions are not required.

If anything, the absence of aiding and abetting as a theory *increases* the burden on the prosecution because it requires the prosecutor to prove the defendant is guilty as an active participant in the offense, while potentially allowing the defendant to argue that he or she is not guilty because he or she did not personally commit all elements of the offense. Here, in arguing that aiding and abetting instructions were required, appellant is effectively contending that the prosecution should have been afforded an easier path to convict him.

# II. ANY ERROR IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT ON AIDING AND ABETTING WAS HARMLESS

Regardless of whether the Court of Appeal was correct in determining that the trial court should have instructed on aiding and abetting, it was correct in concluding that any error in failing to so instruct was harmless.

The jury was instructed on the elements of kidnapping and on the reasonable doubt standard. (CT 99, 106-109.) As already explained, the evidence presented at trial established that appellant grabbed the victim and ushered him into a waiting car driven by a cohort and pursuant to a preconceived plan. (2RT 635-636, 644, 665-666.) The fact that the driver continued to drive the vehicle during appellant's attack on the victim is indicative that she knew the robbery would be taking place and was an active participant. The victim did not testify that the driver appeared surprised by appellant's conduct or came to the victim's aid or pulled over suddenly when the stabbing and robbery commenced or otherwise gave any indication she was unaware of appellant's planned attack. On the contrary, at no point did the driver say a word, much less protest. (2RT 676.)

The Court of Appeal appropriately concluded that these facts were strong indicators that the driver was not only aware of appellant's intention to rob the victim, but shared the same intention and facilitated the robbery by cooperating with appellant to execute a preconceived plan that included asportation of the victim. As already indicated, it is hard to imagine how an aiding and abetting instruction would have helped appellant, as it would have merely offered an alternative, additional means of establishing asportation without having to prove appellant took part in transporting the victim. On this record, a rational jury still would have found appellant guilty of kidnapping had aiding and abetting instructions been given. Indeed, the jury already *did* find beyond a reasonable doubt that appellant asported the victim, albeit under a theory that he personally asported the victim or caused him to be asported.

Appellant claims that this case involves a failure to instruct on an element of the offense, and further argues that a failure to instruct on an element of the offense cannot be harmless error "where at trial the defendant contested the omitted element and produced evidence sufficient

to support a contrary finding." (AOB 18.) But this case did not involve a failure to instruct on an element of kidnapping. Here the jury was instructed on all elements of the crime, including the element of asportation. (CT 119, 121.) Aiding and abetting is a theory of liability, and not an element of a crime.

A failure to instruct on an element of the offense is subject to the *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18, standard of harmless error review when, despite the prosecution's reliance on an aiding and abetting theory at trial, instructions on aiding and abetting were inadequate. (*People v. Dyer* (1988) 45 Cal.3d 26, 64; see also *People v. Flood* (1998) 18 Cal.4th 470, 499 [failing to instruct on the elements of an offense "fall[s] within the broad category of trial errors subject to *Chapman* review on direct appeal"].)

For example, in *Dyer*, the instructions given at trial potentially allowed a conviction on an aiding and abetting theory even absent a jury finding that the defendant had the requisite intent. *Id.* at 64. Similarly, in a case where a prosecutor relies on the vicarious liability doctrine of natural and probable consequences, a trial court must instruct the jury on the doctrine. (*People v. Prettyman* (1996) 14 Cal.4th 248, 260.) In *Flood* (not an aiding and abetting case), instructional error was subject to the *Chapman* standard because the error removed an element of the crime from the jury's consideration. (*People v. Flood, supra*, 18 Cal 4th at p. 504.)

But here, as already emphasized, there was no reliance by the prosecution on an aiding and abetting theory and there was no failure to instruct on an element. Thus, *Chapman* does not apply.

Even if this case involved a failure to instruct on an element of the offense, triggering a *Chapman* harmless error analysis, appellant is not entitled to reversal of his conviction. When evaluating instructional error regarding an element of the crime, the proper error inquiry asks: "Is it clear

beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error?' (*Neder v. United States* (1999) 527 U.S. 1, 18 [144 L.Ed.2d 35, 119 S.Ct. 1827].)" (*People v. Geier* (2007) 41 Cal.4th 555, 608.) As Justice Baxter observed when concurring in *People v. Cross* (2008) 45 Cal.4th 58, 69-72:

Neder argued that an instructional error could be harmless in only three situations -- (1) the defendant is acquitted of the offense on which the jury was improperly instructed, (2) the defendant admitted the element on which the jury was improperly instructed, or (3) other facts necessarily found by the jury are the functional equivalent of the omitted, misdescribed, or presumed element -- but the high court flatly rejected this construct. (*Neder, supra,* 527 U.S. at pp. 13-15, 119 S.Ct. 1827.) The proper test, as the court explained, "is whether it appears 'beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained." (Id. at p. 15, 119 S.Ct. 1827, quoting *Chapman, supra,* 386 U.S. at p. 24, 87 S.Ct. 824.) This test does not depend on proof that the jury actually rested its verdict on the proper ground (*Neder, supra*, at pp. 17-18, 119 S.Ct. 1827), but rather on proof beyond a reasonable doubt that a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty absent the error. (Id. at p. 18, 119 S.Ct. 1827.) Although the former can be proof of the latter (see id. at p. 26, 119 S.Ct. 1827 (conc. opn. of Stevens, J.)), the Neder majority made clear that such a determination is not essential to a finding of harmlessness (id. at p. 16, fn. 1, 119 S.Ct. 1827), which instead "will often require that a reviewing court conduct a thorough examination of the record." (Id. at p. 19, 119 S.Ct. 1827.) Accordingly, an inability to show that the jurors unanimously found great bodily injury based on defendant's act of impregnating the victim, and that no juror relied solely on the abortion, is properly understood as a *predicate* for the application of the *Chapman* harmless-error standard, not (as defendant mistakenly believes) the harmlesserror analysis itself).

Under the proper analysis, it is plain that any error here was harmless for the reasons discussed above. There was overwhelming evidence that appellant shared his crime partner's intent to rob the victim, and that he personally perpetrated the robbery on accordance with a

preconceived plan that including kidnapping the victim. The Court of Appeal so found, even when applying *Chapman*.

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